
Date Published:30 September 2022     

Constitution Committee

Monday 10 October 2022 at 1.00 pm

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Chair

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 6)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 17 January 2022.

Chair

3  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

To answer any written public questions about matters which are 
within the powers and duties of the Committee. The closing 
date/time for receipt of questions is 10.00am on 3 October 
2022.

Chair

4  MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

To answer any written member questions about matters which are 
within the powers and duties of the Committee. The closing 
date/time for receipt of questions is 10.00am on 3 October 
2022.

Chair

5  MEMBERS CODE OF CONDUCT (Pages 7 - 28)

To consider the attached report.

Rob Ayliffe

6  GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
PARTNERSHIP (Pages 29 - 42)

To consider the attached update to the Gloucestershire Health and 
Wellbeing Partnership.

Rob Ayliffe

7  ORDER OF COUNCIL MOTIONS (Pages 43 - 46) Rob Ayliffe



    

This report is for discussion only. 

8  MONITORING OFFICER CHANGES (Pages 47 - 68)

To note changes made to the Constitution under the Monitoring Officer’s 
delegated powers in order to reflect changes to the Council’s Senior 
Management Structure.

Rob Ayliffe

Membership –  Cllr John Bloxsom, Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE (Chair), Cllr Colin Hay, 
Cllr Jeremy Hilton, Cllr Nick Housden, Cllr Gill Moseley, Cllr David Norman MBE, 
Cllr Philip Robinson and Cllr Lynden Stowe 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer, 
(Rob Ayliffe Tel:01452 328506/ e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the 
start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Sophie Benfield, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324094/ e-mail: sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c)

(d) 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Members are required to sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see page 81 of 

the Constitution).

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk


1

Constitution Committee – 17 January 2022
Remote meeting via WebEx

3 Public questions 
The public questions and answers were noted.  No supplementary questions 
were asked at the meeting.

4 Member questions
The member questions and answers were noted.  No supplementary 
questions were asked at the meeting.

5 Independent Remuneration Panel 
Richard Blamey, Chair of the Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP), 
provided information on the review process and set out the recommendations 
included in the report.  He thanked staff in Democratic Services for the work in 
supporting the IRP including the research they had undertaken on the 
allowances paid by other county councils in England.   

 The Chair and the members of the committee thanked Mr Blamey and the 
other members IRP for their work in reviewing the allowances.  

Answering questions, Mr Blamey said that meeting some councillors virtually, 
as opposed to in person, had proved less than ideal as it did not allow the 
members of the IRP to build the same rapport that they could by meeting 
councillors in person.  He felt that the lack of engagement by some of the new 
members was probably because of a lack of understanding of the role of the 
IRP.  

Answering further questions, he did not believe that it was practical to increase 
the current Basic Allowance up to the median figure for county councils in 
England as it would necessitate a rise of more than 5 per cent.  

A member referred to a wider discussion that they had during their meeting 
with the IRP and hoped that some of the issues that they had raised relating to 
particular special responsibility allowances could be considered further by 
Group Leaders.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



2

Another member expressed disappointment that the IRP had not felt able to 
increase the allowances in 2021-22 as it was an election year.  He believed 
that the allowances should be increased automatically each year in line with 
the staff pay rise.

Mr Blamey said that the IRP felt strongly that automatic increases should not 
be applied and the level of allowances should be assessed each year to 
ensure that they reflected the latest position at the Council.  He stated that the 
allowances had not been increased in 2021-22 as previous experience 
suggested that any recommendations made in an election year could end up 
becoming ‘political’. 

There was wide support for the introduction of a cycling allowance for 
councillors at the same rate as cars, currently 45p per mile, although a 
concern was raised that it would be out of line with the rates payable to staff.  
It was hoped that steps could be taken to set the staff cycling rate at the same 
level in an effort to encourage both councillors and staff to use bicycles 
whenever they could.  The overall number of miles was likely to be small so 
the increase in overall costs would not be that significant to the Council. 

AGREED 

a) TO RECOMMEND that the Council 
i) Increases the Basic Allowance from £10,500 to £10,750 for the 

financial year 2022-23.
ii) Maintains Special Responsibility Allowances at their current level
iii) Notes the revised Members’ Allowances Scheme for 2022-23 at 

Appendix B to the report. 

b) To request that the Deputy Chief Executive and Executive Director: 
Corporate Resources make further enquiries regarding the cycling rate for 
staff with the aim of introducing a common rate of 45p per mile, in line with 
the car rate, for both councillors and staff.

6 Public and member questions

Simon Harper, Head of Democratic Services, introduced the report.

At the meeting of the Constitution Committee held on 11 October 2021, 
members requested that a detailed report be brought to a future meeting 
setting out the deadlines for public and member questions at full Council, 
committee and Cabinet meetings. At the same meeting, it was agreed that 
Cabinet Decision Statements and Cabinet Member Decision Statements 
would no longer be included on the Council agenda as member questions 
provided an opportunity for members to ask about decisions taken by the 

Page 2



3

Cabinet or a Cabinet Member.  As a compromise, a recommendation was 
made for the time limit for member questions to be increased from 30 to 45 
minutes.  The recommendation was not considered at the Council meeting on 
8 December 2021 as it was felt that more time was required to allow a better 
understanding of all the issues including the deadline for the publication of 
agenda papers.

The Chair proposed for Council questions only that the notice period be 
extended by two days from four to six clear working days.  In practice, that 
meant that the deadline would be 10am on a Monday in the week before a 
meeting on the Wednesday in the following week.  It was recognised that this 
would result in a question deadline ahead of the legal deadline of five clear 
working days for publication of the agenda and reports. The Chair accepted 
that there would need to be a later deadline for questions specifically related to 
items on the Council agenda.  Four clear working days were suggested in line 
with the current deadline for Council and committee questions – 10am on the 
Wednesday a week before a meeting on the following Wednesday. 

The Monitoring Officer noted that if the proposal was accepted it would result 
in three question deadlines for Council meetings: six clear working days for 
general questions, four clear working days for questions specifically related to 
items on the agenda and 12 noon on the day before the meeting for questions 
that were accepted as urgent.   

If this proposal was accepted members requested that the deadlines be 
published on the agenda.  They asked that the Constitution make clear that 
the deadline for questions would be extended when reports were delayed. 
This would apply to all the meetings including Cabinet and committees where 
questions could be asked.  

Referring to the Council Budget meeting, a member believed that the agenda 
item for member questions should be before the presentation of the Budget 
report. The Chair noted that this was a matter for the Chair of the Council and 
could be raised at the briefing ahead of the meeting.  

AGREED 

a) To request the Monitoring Officer to recommend changes to public and 
member questions to reflect the views expressed by members of the 
committee. Following consultation with members, the changes would be 
presented at the Council meeting on 16 February 2022.

b) TO RECOMMEND to the Council that the time limit for member 
questions at full Council meetings be increased from 30 to 45 minutes at 
Procedural Standing Order 8 in Part 4 of the Constitution.

 

Page 3



4

7 Pensions Committee

Cllr John Bloxsom declared an interest in this item as he was in receipt of 
benefits from the Local Government Pension Scheme.  

In introducing the report, Matthew Trebilcock, Head of Pensions, explained 
that the recommendations in the report were consistent with good practice 
elsewhere. There had been a discussion at the Pensions Committee and 
members had requested that the position be reviewed after two years.

In terms of political balance, the regulations made clear that the controlling 
political group must have the majority of voting members on every committee, 
including the Pensions Committee.  Although the Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund included members from outside the Council, the Pensions Committee 
remained a committee of the Council.  If co-opted members representing 
employers, employees and other organisations had voting rights then the 
controlling political group would no longer have a majority on the committee. 

A member believed that there should be an extra employee representative on 
the committee if there was going to be an extra employer representative as 
indicated in the report. The Head of Pensions explained that the reasoning for 
another employer representative was that decisions generally had a greater 
impact on employers compared with employees.  He confirmed that the term 
of office for co-opted members was four years and this would be included 
under the Pensions Committee membership in the Constitution.

Referring to page 21 of the report and the changes proposed at 23 to the 
duties of the Pensions Committee, a member noted that it should refer to the 
interests of the ‘Gloucestershire Pension Fund’ not to the interests of the 
‘County Council’.  

Cllr Lynden Stowe, Chair of the Pensions Committee, explained that a review 
after two years would allow the membership to be re-examined alongside the 
operation of the committee.  He said that there were already a number of new 
members on the committee and to increase that number further would put 
even more stress on the membership.  He noted that the Pensions Committee 
and the Pensions Board had in the past struggled to recruit members. 

AGREED TO RECOMMEND that the Council adopt the changes to the 
duties and membership of the Pension Committee at Section 3.4 of Part 3 of 
the Constitution included in the report along with the changes identified at the 
meeting relating to the terms of office for co-opted members and ‘promoting 
the interests of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund’ at 23 under the duties of 
the committee. 

Page 4



5

8 Contract Procedure Rules 

Rob Ayliffe, the Monitoring Officer, advised that the report highlighted the new 
financial thresholds for Council contracts that had been introduced through 
Government regulations on 1 January 2022.  

AGREED to recommend that the Council ratifies the changes to financial 
thresholds in the Contract Procedure Rules at Part 4 of the Constitution as set 
out in the report.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Constitution Committee

Draft Gloucestershire Code of Members’ Conduct

Date:  10 October 2022 Agenda Item:  5

Title of Report Draft Gloucestershire Code of Members’ Conduct 

Purpose of Report To seek the Committee’s approval for the Draft 
Gloucestershire Code of Members’ Conduct

Recommendations That the committee recommends the Draft 
Gloucestershire Code of Members’ Conduct (as 
appended to this report) for approval by County Council.

Officer Contact Rob Ayliffe
Monitoring Officer
Tel: 01452 328506
Email:  rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Key Risks The Councillor Code of Conduct is a key element of the 
Council’s Corporate Governance Framework.  The  
purpose of the Code is to ensure that Councillors 
understand their individual role in maintaining high 
standards of conduct, to ensure that such standards are 
maintained at all times, and to allow action to be taken 
when breaches of the Code occur.

In order to do this, the Code of Conduct needs to set out 
clearly the behaviour and standards that are expected of 
members of the Council.

Page 7

Agenda Item 5

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Introduction

1. The Council’s current Code of Conduct has been in place and remained 
unchanged since 2012, when it was introduced in response to the Localism 
Act 2011 which abolished the previous regime.  It has been reviewed on an 
annual basis by the Audit and Governance Committee, but until recently 
there has been no reason or appetite to change it.

2. However, a 2019 review by the Committee on Standards in Public Life 
(CSPL) drew attention to a wide disparity in the style and content of local 
Codes of Conduct and recommended that the LGA develop a Model Code 
of Conduct that Councils could choose to adopt and/or adapt to suit their 
circumstances.  The LGA accepted this recommendation, and completed 
work on a Model Code of Conduct in December 2020, which has since 
been modified to correct a number of minor anomalies.  The current version 
of the LGA Code is available on the LGA website at 
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-
councillor-code-conduct-2020.

3. This led to a local discussion between County and District Monitoring 
Officers to test the appetite for all principal local authorities to adopt the 
code.  The conclusion of this discussion was that some of the district 
monitoring officers had reservations about the wording of the model code 
that would prevent them from wholeheartedly recommending it to their 
respective councils.  However, there was a strong appetite for developing a 
common Gloucestershire Code of Conduct, based on the content of the 
LGA Code but also keeping elements of existing codes of conduct.

4. That work was carried out, and a Draft Gloucestershire Code of Members’ 
Conduct was developed that has the support of the monitoring officers of 
the 7 principal council, as well as the Gloucestershire Association of Parish 
and Town Councils.  

5. In July, Audit & Governance Committee (as the committee with 
responsibility for reviewing and advising on the Code of Conduct) gave its 
approval to consult with members, political groups and the Council’s 
Independent Persons on the draft Code.   The draft Code is provided as an 
appendix to this report.

Benefits of a common Gloucestershire Code of Conduct

6. It is accepted that a degree of adaptation of the Code will be required by 
District, Town and Parish councils.  For example, those sections of the code 
that refer to executive responsibilities will not be relevant to those councils 
who do not operate executive arrangements.  However, other than that,  it is 
intended that the provisions and standards set out in the code should apply 

Page 8

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020


equally to all District Councils.  It will, of course, be up to each District, 
Town and Parish to decide whether to adopt it.

7. The main benefits of having a common code of conduct are that:
 It will enable training resources to be shared across and between 

councils.
 For those who are members of more than one council, it will mean 

that a single set of standards apply
 It will provide greater clarity and consistency for members of the 

public about what behaviour they should expect from their 
representatives

 Where complaints are brought against a member at both county and 
district level (as sometimes is the case), the same considerations will 
apply, reducing duplication and allowing a single investigation of the 
complaint to be undertaken.

Consultation response

8. The Draft Gloucestershire Code of Members’ Conduct was sent out to all 
county councillors and to the Council’s Independent Persons on Tuesday 
26 July.

9. Formal consultation responses were received from two political groups, and 
from one individual County Councillor.  In addition, informal feedback was 
received from the leaders of the remaining groups and from the Council’s 
Independent Persons.  On the whole, consultation responses were 
supportive of the new Code of Conduct.  

10. A small number of specific issues were raised which were considered by 
Audit and Governance Committee at its meeting on 30 September 2022 (as 
the committee whose role it is to advise the Council on revisions to the 
Code of Conduct).  These issues were able to be resolved to the 
committee’s satisfaction without further changes to the draft Code.   It was 
agreed that training and guidance materials would be developed following 
adoption of the new code to provide members with greater clarity and 
awareness of its provisions.

11. The conclusion of the discussion was that the Committee confirmed its 
support for the proposed wording of the draft Gloucestershire Code of 
Members’ Conduct.

Page 9



Options

12. Option 1 - To reject the Draft Gloucestershire Code of Members’ Conduct 
and continue with the Council’s existing Code of Conduct.  This is not 
recommended.  The Council’s existing Code of Conduct is very high level 
and has little in common with the Local Government Association’s Model 
Code of Conduct.  As a result, it fails to provide members and the public 
with sufficient clarity over the standards of behaviour it expects, which can 
lead to difficulties when it comes to dealing with complaints against 
Councillors.

13. Option 2 – To recommend that the Council adopts the LGA Model Code.  
This is not recommended.  Although the LGA Model Code is fit for purpose 
and provides much greater clarity over the expectations on members, 
discussions with the District Councils suggest that it is unlikely to be 
universally adopted.  This means that members in those districts would 
continue to be subject to slightly different codes of conduct, and slightly 
different expectations depending on which tier of government they are 
operating within.  This will mean that the benefits outlined in section 7 of this 
report are not achieved.

14. Option 3 – To recommend the Gloucestershire Code of Members’ Conduct 
for approval by County Council.  This will pave the way for a common code 
of conduct across all principal local authorities and many of the parish and 
town councils in Gloucestershire.  This is the recommended option

Next steps

15. Should the committee support the recommended option, County Council will 
be asked to approve the new Code of Conduct at its meeting on 9 
November.

16. Training will be provided to all members on the content and operation of the 
Code, and will be built into the Council’s ongoing member development 
programme.

17. Following its adoption, the operation of the Code will continue to be 
overseen and administered by the Monitoring Officer and reviewed annually 
by Audit and Governance Committee.

ENDS

Page 10



Gloucestershire County Council

CODE OF MEMBERS’ CONDUCT

Adopted on [                                        ] taking effect on 
[                                     ]

Page 11



Contents

I Introduction

II Scope of the Code of Conduct

III General Principles of Members’ Conduct

IV Rules of Conduct

V Registration of Interests

VI Declaration of Interests and Restrictions on Participation

VII Duties in respect of the Code of Conduct 

VIII Dispensations

IX Gifts and Hospitality

X Definitions

Appendix A – Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
Appendix B – Other Registrable Interests

Page 12



I. Introduction

1. This Code of Conduct (Code) is adopted pursuant to the Council’s duty to 
promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members of the 
Council.

Members have a duty to uphold the law and to act on all occasions in 
accordance with the public trust placed in them.

II. Scope of the Code of Conduct

2. The Code applies to Members whenever acting in their official capacity as 
a Member of Gloucestershire County Council, including;

(a) when engaged in the business of Gloucestershire County Council 
including when acting as a local member or representing the Council 
externally;

(b) when behaving so as to give a reasonable person the impression of 
acting as a representative of Gloucestershire County Council.

This Code of Conduct does not seek to regulate what Members do in their 
purely private and personal lives.

3. The obligations set out in this Code are in addition to those which apply to 
all Members by virtue of the procedural and other rules of the Council and 
any Protocols and Policies which may be adopted from time to time by the 
Council.

Page 13



4. Failure to comply with the requirements within this Code of Conduct which 
relate to disclosable pecuniary interests and which are set out in sections 
V and VI and Appendix A is a criminal offence.1

III. General Principles of Members’ Conduct

5. In carrying out their duties in exercising the functions of their Authority or 
otherwise acting as a Councillor, Members will be expected to observe the 
general principles of conduct set out below.  These principles will be taken 
into consideration when any allegation is received of a breach of the 
provisions of the Code.

 Selflessness
 Integrity
 Objectivity
 Accountability
 Openness
 Honesty
 Leadership

IV. Rules of Conduct

6. Members shall base their conduct on a consideration of the public interest, 
avoid conflict between personal interest and the public interest and 
resolve any conflict between the two, at once, and in favour of the public 
interest.

7. Members shall observe the following rules:-

General Requirements

1 Section 34 Localism Act 2011

Page 14



(1) Do treat everyone with respect.
(2) Do not bully any person.
(3)   Do not harass any person
(4) Do promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against 

any person.
(5) Do not use your position improperly to confer on or secure for 

yourself or any other person, an advantage or disadvantage, or seek 
to improperly influence a decision about any matter from which you 
are excluded from participating or voting as a result of the 
requirements of Part VI of this Code. 

(6) Do not do anything which compromises, or is likely to compromise, 
the impartiality of those who work for, or on behalf of, the Council.

(7) Do not disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or 
information acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably 
to be aware, is of a confidential nature, unless–
(i) you have the consent of a person authorised to give it;
(ii) you are required by law to do so;
(iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of 

obtaining professional legal advice provided that the third party 
agrees not to disclose the information to any other person; or

(iv) the disclosure is –
(a) reasonable and in the public interest; and
(b) made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable 

requirements of the Council.
Before making any disclosure under (iv) above, the written 
advice of the Monitoring Officer must be sought and considered.

(8) Do not prevent another person from gaining access to information to 
which that person is entitled by law.

(9) Do promote and support high standards of conduct when serving in 
your public post by leadership and example.

Page 15



(10)   Do not behave in a manner which brings your role or the Council 
into disrepute.

(11) Do not use knowledge gained solely as a result of your role as a 
Member for the advancement of your own interests.

When using the resources of the Council, or authorising the use of those 
resources by others:

(12) Do act in accordance with the Council’s requirements including the 
requirements of the Council’s ICT Policies.

(13) Do ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes 
(including party political purposes) unless that use could reasonably 
be regarded as likely to facilitate, or be conducive to, the discharge 
of the functions of the Council or to the office to which you have 
been elected or appointed.

(14) Do have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity 
made under the Local Government Act 1986.

When making decisions on behalf of, or as part of, the Council:

(15) Do ensure that decisions are made on merit, particularly when 
making public appointments, awarding contracts, or recommending 
individuals for rewards or benefits.

(16) Do have regard to advice provided to you by the Council’s Officers, 
particularly that provided by the Chief Financial Officer and 
Monitoring Officer where such advice is offered pursuant to their 
statutory duties.

(17) Do be as open as possible about your own decisions and actions and 
those of the Council and be prepared to give reasons for those 
decisions and actions.

Page 16



(18) Do ensure that you are accountable for your decisions and co-
operate fully with whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your office.

V. Registration of Interests

8. Members shall observe the following rules when registering their interests.

(1) Do, within 28 days of taking office as a Member (or Co-opted 
Member), notify the Monitoring Officer of any disclosable pecuniary 
interest as defined in Appendix A and any other registrable interest 
as defined in Appendix B.

(2) Do, within 28 days of the date of a disclosure referred to in 
Paragraph 9(2) of this Code, notify the Monitoring Officer of the 
interest.

(3) Do notify the Monitoring Officer of any new interest (disclosable 
pecuniary or other registrable interest) or change to any registered 
interest within 28 days of the date of that change.

(4) Do approach the Monitoring Officer if you feel that your interest 
should be treated as sensitive because its disclosure could lead to 
you, or a person connected with you, being subject to violence or 
intimidation.

VI. Declaration of Interests and Restrictions on Participation

Members must observe the following rules:-

9. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

Page 17



Where a matter, in which you have an interest as specified in Appendix A 
(disclosable pecuniary interests), arises at a meeting at which you are 
present, or where you become aware that you have such an interest in 
any matter to be considered or being considered at the meeting:-
(1) Do disclose the interest to the meeting.  If the Monitoring Officer 

considers it a sensitive interest, you must declare that you have an 
interest but do not need to disclose the nature of the interest.

(2) Do ensure that, if your interest is not entered in the Council’s 
Register, you disclose the interest to the meeting as required in 9(1) 
above and that you notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 
28 days in accordance with Paragraph 8(3) of this Code.

(3) Do withdraw from the meeting and do not vote on the matter, 
participate, or participate further, in any discussion of the matter at 
the meeting unless a dispensation has been granted.

(4) Do not, as a member of the Council’s executive, exercise any 
executive functions in respect of any matter in which you have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest (Appendix A).  You should notify the 
Monitoring Officer of the interest and take no steps or further steps 
in the matter.

10. Other Interests (Other Registrable Interests Appendix B and Non -
registrable Interests)

Where a matter, in which

either you have an interest as specified in Appendix B (other 
registrable interests),

Page 18



or where a decision on the matter might reasonably be regarded as 
affecting, to a greater extent than it would affect the majority of other 
Council taxpayers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the division(s) affected 
by the decision, your well-being or financial position or the well-being 
or financial position of a member of your family, or any person with 
whom you have a close association, or who has a contractual 
relationship (including employment) with yourself, member of your 
family or close associate,

arises at a meeting at which you are present, or where you become aware 
that you have such an interest in any matter to be considered or being 
considered at the meeting:-

(1) Do ensure that you disclose the interest to the meeting.  If the     
Monitoring Officer considers it a sensitive interest, you must declare 
that you have an interest but do not need to disclose the nature of 
the interest.

(2) Do leave the meeting and do not vote on the matter, participate, or 
participate further, in any discussion of the matter at the meeting 
(unless a dispensation has been granted or it is an excepted 
function), if,

(a) it affects the financial position of an interest specified in 
Appendix B (other registrable interests) 

(b)    it affects your financial position or well-being or that of a 
member of your family, or any person with whom you have a 
close association, or who has a contractual relationship 
(including employment) with yourself, member of your family or 
close associate

or

Page 19



(c) it relates to the determination of any approval, consent, licence, 
permission or registration in relation to you or any person or 
body described in (a) and (b) above 

and a reasonable member of the public knowing the facts would 
reasonably regard it as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your 
judgement of the public interest.

The rules set out in Paragraph 10(4) above do not have the effect of 
precluding a Member from attending a meeting only for the purpose 
of making representations, answering questions or giving evidence 
relating to the business, provided that the public are also allowed to 
attend the meeting for the same purpose, whether under a statutory 
right or otherwise.  The Member must, after making their submission, 
withdraw immediately from the meeting.

(3) Do not, as a member of the Council’s executive, exercise any 
executive functions in respect of any matter in which you have an 
interest as described in 10(4) above.  You should notify the 
Monitoring Officer of the interest and take no steps or further steps 
in the matter.

VII. Duties in respect of the Code of Conduct

11. Members shall observe the following:-

(1) Do undertake training on the Code of Conduct as required by the 
Council.

(2) Do co-operate, at all stages, with any investigation into your conduct 
which may be carried out in accordance with the arrangements for 

Page 20



the investigation and determination of complaints which have been 
put in place by the Council.

(3) Do not seek to intimidate, or attempt to intimidate, any person who 
is, or is likely to be, a complainant, a witness or involved in the 
administration of any investigation or proceedings in relation to an 
allegation that a Member has failed to comply with his or her 
Council’s Code of Conduct.

(4) Do comply with any sanction imposed on you following a finding that 
you have failed to comply with the Code of Conduct.

VIII. Dispensations

12. Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary interest as described in this 
Code, and set out in Appendix A, or has an interest which would preclude 
the Member’s participation in the item of business as described in 
Paragraph 10 of this Code, the Member may apply to the Monitoring 
Officer for a dispensation.

13. A Member may be granted a dispensation to participate in a discussion 
and vote on a matter at a meeting even if the Member has a disclosable 
pecuniary interest as described in this Code, and set out in Appendix A, or 
has an other registrable interest (Appendix B) or non-registrable interest 
which would preclude the Member’s participation in the item of business 
as described in Paragraph 10 of this Code.

IX. Gifts and Hospitality 

14. When offered gifts or hospitality in your capacity as a Member of the 
Council, the following rules must be observed.

Page 21



(1) Do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, 
which could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or to a 
reasonable suspicion of influence to show favour from persons 
seeking to acquire, develop or do business with the Council or from 
persons who may apply to the Council for any permission, licence or 
other significant advantage.

(2) Do register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an 
estimated value of at least £25 within 28 days of its receipt. 
(Appendix B).

(3) Do register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or 
hospitality that you have been offered but have refused to accept.

X. Definitions

The following are definitions which apply for the purposes of this Code of Conduct.

1. Bullying is offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse 
or misuse of power through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate, or 
injure the recipient.

2. “Close associate” means someone with whom you are in close regular contact 
over a period of time who is more than an acquaintance.  It may be a friend, 
a colleague, a business associate or someone you know through general 
social contacts.  It is someone a reasonable member of the public would think 
you might be prepared to favour/disadvantage (“close association” shall be 
construed accordingly). 

3. “Harassment” is conduct, on at least two occasions, that causes alarm or 
distress or puts people in fear of violence

Page 22



4. “Meeting” is a meeting of the Council, or any Committee, Sub-Committee,
Joint Committee or Joint Sub-Committee of the Council.

5. “Member” is an elected Member or a Co-opted Member of the Council.  
“Co-opted Member” is a person who is not a Member of the Council but who 
is either a Member of any Committee or Sub-Committee of the Council, or a 
Member of, and represents the Council on, any Joint Committee or Joint Sub-
Committee of the Council, and who is entitled to vote on any question that 
falls to be decided at any meeting of that Committee or Sub-Committee.

6. “Member of your family” means:

 Partner (spouse/civil partner/someone you live with as if a spouse or 
civil partner);

 A parent/parent-in-law, son/daughter, step-son/step-daughter, child of 
partner; or the partners of any of these persons;

 A brother/sister, grandparent/grandchild, uncle/aunt, nephew/niece; or 
the partners of any of these persons.

7. “Monitoring Officer” is the Monitoring Officer to Gloucestershire County 
Council.

8. “Pending notification” is an interest which has been notified to the Monitoring 
Officer but which has not been entered in the Council’s Register in 
consequence of that notification.

9. Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the 
written word.

11. “The Act” is the Localism Act 2011.

12.  “The Council” is Gloucestershire County Council.

Page 23



13. “Unlawful discrimination” is where someone is treated unfairly because of a 
protected characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a 
person's identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation

14. “Well-being” means general sense of contentment and quality of life.

15. “Excepted functions” are functions of the Council in respect of

(i) housing, where the Member is a tenant of the Council provided that 
those functions do not relate particularly to the Member’s tenancy or 
lease;

(ii) an allowance, payment or indemnity given to Members;

(iii) any ceremonial honour given to Members; and

(iv) setting Council tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 
1992.

Page 24



Appendix A

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

The interests set out below are “Disclosable Pecuniary Interests” in accordance with 
the Localism Act 2011 and Members must notify the Monitoring Officer in 
accordance with Paragraphs 8(1)-(3) of this Code of Conduct of any interest which is 
an interest of the Member (M) or of any of the following:

 the Member’s spouse or civil partner;

 a person with whom the Member is living as husband and wife; or

 a person with whom the Member is living as if they were civil partners;

and the Member is aware that that other person has the interest.

Subject      Disclosable Pecuniary Interest

Employment, Office, Trade, Any employment, office, trade, profession or 
Profession or Vocation vocation carried out for profit or gain.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial 
benefit (other than from the relevant authority) 
made or provided within the relevant period in 
respect of any expenses incurred by M in 
carrying out duties as a member, or towards 
the election expenses of M.  
This includes any payment or financial benefit 
from a Trade Union within the meaning of the 
Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992(a).

Contracts Any contract which is made between the 
relevant person (or a body in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest) and 
the relevant authority –
(a) under which goods or services are to be 
provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within 
the area of the relevant authority.

Page 25



Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to 
occupy land in the area of the relevant 
authority for a month or longer.

Corporate Tenancies Any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge) –
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body 
where –
(a) that body (to M’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant 
authority; and
(b) either –

(i) the total nominal value of the securities 
exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more 
than one class, the total nominal value of the 
shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of 
that class.

(a) “the Act” means the Localism Act 2011;

(b) “body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in 
which the relevant person is a partner or a body corporate of which the 
relevant person is a director, or in the securities of which the relevant person 
has a beneficial interest;

(c) “director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial 
and provident society;

(d) “land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which 
does not carry with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with 
another) to occupy the land or to receive income;

(e) “M” means a member of a relevant authority;

(f) “member” includes a co-opted member;

(g) “relevant authority” means the authority of which M is a member;

Page 26



(h) “relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which 
M gives a notification for the purposes of section 30(1) or section 31(7), as the 
case may be, of the Act;

(i) “relevant person” means M or any other person referred to in section 30(3)(b) 
of the Act;

(j) “securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, 
units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial 
Services and Markets Act 2000(b) and other securities of any description, other 
than money deposited with a building society.

Page 27



Appendix B

Other Registrable Interests

The interests set out below are “other registrable interests” which must be notified 
to the Monitoring Officer in accordance with Paragraphs 8(1), 8(2) and 8(4) of this 
Code of Conduct.

A Member must notify the Monitoring Officer of any interest held by the Member in 
any of the categories set out below:-

Subject     Other Interest

Management or Control Any body of which the Member is in a 
position of general control or 
management (including where you have 
been appointed or nominated by the 
Council.)

Public/Charitable and Other Any body –
External Bodies (a) exercising functions of a public 

nature;
(b) directed to charitable purposes; or
(c) one of whose principal purposes 
includes the influence of public opinion 
or policy (including any political party or 
Trade Union).

of which the Member of the Council is a 
member or in a position of general 
control or management.

Employer Any person or body who employs, or has 
appointed, the Member.

Gifts and Hospitality The name of any person, organisation, 
company or other body from whom the 
Member has received, by virtue of his 
Office, gifts or hospitality worth an 
estimated value of £25 or more.

Page 28



Constitution Committee

Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Partnership

Meeting Date:  10 October 2022

Agenda Item:  6

Title of Report Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Partnership

Purpose of Report 1. To seek the Committee’s support for the proposed 
Terms of Reference for the Gloucestershire Health 
and Wellbeing Partnership. 

2. To seek approval to make a recommendation to Full 
Council that the proposed Terms of Reference for 
the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing 
Partnership be considered and that the Partnership 
be established as a joint committee of the Integrated 
Care Board and Gloucestershire County Council.

Recommendations That the committee recommends that Full Council: - 

1. Establishes the Gloucestershire Health and 
Wellbeing Partnership as a Joint Committee with the 
Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board and 
Gloucestershire County Council, and

2. Approves and adopts the proposed Terms of 
Reference for the Partnership, (as appended to this 
report), and integrated into Section 3 of the Council’s 
constitution.

Officer Contact Jo Moore - Senior Democratic Services Adviser

Tel: 01452 324196 
Email: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

Key Risks The Council is under a duty to establish an Integrated Care 
Partnership as a joint committee with the Gloucestershire 
NHS Integrated Care Board. 

Failure to adequately define that Partnership’s terms of 
reference could lead to poor governance and a lack of 
clarity over the leadership and delivery of integrated health 
and care services and systems.

Page 29

Agenda Item 6

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


1. The Health and Care Act 2022 introduced significant changes to the structures 
and governance of local NHS bodies, including changes to the way that local 
Health bodies work with Local Government. As part of those changes, the 
Gloucestershire NHS Integrated Care Board was formed on 1 July 2022, 
taking on the responsibilities and functions formerly held by the 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group.

2. Amongst the changes introduced by the Act is a requirement that each 
Integrated Care Board (ICB) and each upper tier or unitary Local Authority 
within its geographical area must establish a joint committee, (an Integrated 
Care Partnership). In Gloucestershire’s case, since the County Council and 
the ICB are conterminous, this requires the establishment of a single 
Integrated Care Partnership for the County.  

3. Each Integrated Care Partnership can determine its own procedures and ways 
of working, but it has a statutory responsibility under the Act to produce an 
Integrated Care Strategy with the involvement of the Local Healthwatch 
organisations and local people. That Integrated Care Strategy must take 
account of the local Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and must consider how 
local health and social care services can best be delivered in partnership. The 
Partnership will not have executive powers but will work by influencing the 
strategic direction of the health and care system. Once the Partnership has 
agreed its Integrated Care Strategy, the County Council and the ICB will be 
required by duty to have regard to that strategy in its own decision making.

4. Since 12 August 2022, a joint working group comprising representatives of the 
Council, NHS bodies and other partners has been meeting to define the role 
and composition of the Integrated Care Partnership for Gloucestershire.  
Although the Council’s co-terminosity with the ICB gives Gloucestershire a 
tremendous advantage in terms of partnership working, it also creates the 
anomaly that our pre-existing Health and Wellbeing Board and the new 
Integrated Care Partnership will cover the same geographic area. As a result, 
much of that discussion has focussed on how these two bodies can develop 
complementary roles in order to add value and facilitate the delivery and 
improvement of local outcomes and services.  

5. Gloucestershire has also benefited from having had a successful Integrated 
Care System in place for several years, which has paved the way for a co-
operative and collaborative relationship between the Council and its NHS 
partners.  

6. Those deliberations have culminated in the proposed Terms of Reference 
which are appended to this report. To emphasise the close relationship 
needed with the Health and Wellbeing Board, it is proposed that the new 
Integrated Care Partnership be known as the Gloucestershire Health and 
Wellbeing Partnership. It is also intended that the two bodies should have a 

Page 30



single chairperson in common, and that, subject to the necessary approvals, 
that this should be a Gloucestershire County Council appointment. The Chair 
of the Committee will also be the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board, 
who will appoint a Vice-Chair from within the membership of the Committee.

7. The Draft Terms of Reference (attached) set out the membership, remit, 
responsibilities, and reporting arrangements of the Partnership and may only 
be changed with the joint approval of the ICB and Gloucestershire County 
Council. 

8. If adopted, the Terms of Reference will be subject to annual review by the 
Partnership, and any resulting recommendations will be brought to 
Constitution Committee and County Council for consideration and approval.

Appendix 1: Draft Terms of Reference for the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing 
Partnership

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1. The Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Partnership is a statutory Committee of 

the One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (ICS), established jointly between 

the NHS Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board (ICB) and Gloucestershire County 

Council as equal partners and statutory members. This is the Gloucestershire 

Integrated Care Partnership as required by section 26 of the Health and Care Act 

2022. 

 

1.2. The founding members of the Partnership, the Integrated Care Board and 

Gloucestershire County Council share a statutory duty to meet the health and care 

needs of the population. 

 

1.3. These Terms of Reference (ToR) set out the membership, remit, responsibilities, and 

reporting arrangements of the Committee and may only be changed with the joint 

approval of the ICB and Gloucestershire County Council The Terms of Reference will 

be subject to an annual review. 

 

1.4. The Committee and its development will be informed by The Health and Care Act 

2022 and associated national guidance and will bring partners together to address 

the wider health, social care and public health needs of the population and the wider 

determinants of population health and wellbeing. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GLOUCESTERSHIRE  

HEALTH AND WELLBEING PARTNERSHIP 

DRAFT TERMS OF REFERENCE 

Page 33



Appendix 1 

2 

 

2. Purpose and principles 
 

2.1 The Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Partnership is a key component of the 

governance architecture for the One Gloucestershire ICS. Alongside the ICB, its 

purpose is to deliver the four fundamental purposes of the ICS: 

 

 improve outcomes in population health and healthcare  

 tackle inequalities in outcomes, experience, and access  

 enhance productivity and value for money  

 help the NHS support broader social and economic development 

 

2.2 The Partnership has a statutory duty to prepare an Integrated Care Strategy that sets 

out how the assessed population needs of Gloucestershire and strategic priorities for 

health and wellbeing will be met by the Integrated Care Board, NHS England, or the 

responsible local authorities whose areas coincide with or fall wholly or partly within 

its area. 

 

2.3 The design of the Health and Wellbeing Partnership is shaped by a set of principles 

agreed by partners across the ICS.  

 

2.4 The Health and Wellbeing Partnership will operate at a strategic level with a 

supporting infrastructure to enable delivery of key work programmes. 

 

2.5 Members will share a common commitment to pursue better health and wellbeing for 

all as a core purpose of the Partnership. 

 

2.6 The Health and Wellbeing Partnership will promote  a culture of partnership and co-

production and this will be reflected in its approach to developing and implementing 

the integrated care strategy. 

 

2.7 The Health and Wellbeing Partnership will be both comprised of and draw on the 

leadership, expertise, and membership necessary to deliver its purpose in relation to 

taking a whole population approach to improving health outcomes and tackling health 

inequalities. 

 

2.8 The Health and Wellbeing Partnership will embody the importance of the VCSE 

sector as a strategic partner and will adopt the agreed Memorandum of 

Understanding that enables the strength and diversity of the sector to contribute to 

the success of the ICS.  

 

2.9 The Partnership’s governance and decision-making models will be based on the 

principle of subsidiarity with decisions taken as close to the communities and people 

they affect as possible. 

 

2.10 Distributed leadership and a collective model of decision-making and accountability 

will strengthen mutual accountability for achieving the shared vision and objectives 

for Gloucestershire. This will include accountability to local residents. 

Page 34



Appendix 1 

3 

 

 

2.11 Senior Local Authority officers/councillors will be members of both the Health and 

Wellbeing Partnership and the Integrated Care Board. 

 

2.12 The voice of local people and communities will be an essential input to the Health 

and Wellbeing Partnership, and this will be achieved through a comprehensive 

community engagement model and not solely through membership. 

 

2.13 There will be an explicit commitment to diversity that underpins the process for 

appointments to the Partnership as well as being reflected in how it operates. 

 

2.14 The Health and Wellbeing Partnership will employ transparent mechanisms for 

managing conflicts of interest, informed by existing examples of good practice 

within One Gloucestershire. 

 

2.15 The ICS will commit to agile working through both the ICB and the Health and 

Wellbeing Partnership. All committees and any task and finish groups together with 

the ICB Executive Team and function will be designed to assist both the ICB Board 

and HWBP in targeting the right business and decisions. Supporting structures will 

facilitate this and will be predicated on the principle of subsidiarity outlined above. 

 

2.16 Integral to being a learning system, there will be a comprehensive review process 

for Health and Wellbeing Partnership composition and effectiveness after the first two 

years. This will allow any changes indicated through assessment and feedback to be 

considered and agreed. Subsequently, there will be routine annual review of 

effectiveness and the Terms of Reference. 

 

2.17 The Health and Wellbeing Partnership will commit to ongoing facilitated development 

to ensure that its effectiveness is optimised and is informed by good practice. 

 

 

3. Statutory Role 
 

3.1 The Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Partnership is a statutory committee of 

the Integrated Care System. Its authority is derived from the Health and Care Act 

2022.  

 

3.2 The Partnership can oversee and progress partnership working in pursuit of any 

health and wellbeing priorities reflected within the Health and Wellbeing Strategy or 

the Integrated Care Strategy. 

 

3.3 It can seek any information it requires within its remit and request relevant data and 

evidence to support its work and decision-making. 

 

3.4 It can commission reports as necessary to help fulfil its obligations. 

 

Page 35



Appendix 1 

4 

 

3.5 It can create task and finish sub-groups in order to address targeted objectives. The 

Partnership shall determine the membership and terms of reference of any such task 

and finish sub-groups but may not delegate any decisions to such groups. It is 

essential that there is a broad range of representation in the sub-groups.  

 

3.6 Our system already has a wide range of partnerships and boards leading and 

delivering on health and wellbeing priorities. The Health and Wellbeing Partnership 

aims to bring these together to provide a more co-ordinated approach across our 

system.  

 

3.7 The Citizen’s Panel will report to the Health and Wellbeing Partnership every 6 

months.  

 

 

4. Membership 
 

4.1. The Health and Wellbeing Partnership shall be established by two founding members; 

one to be appointed by the Integrated Care Board, and one to be appointed by 

Gloucestershire County Council.  

 

4.2. The founding members will then convene the remaining members of the Partnership 

in line with these Terms of Reference. 

 

4.3. Members will possess between them knowledge, skills and experience in: 

 

 The determinants of health and wellbeing; 

 Primary, secondary and tertiary prevention; 

 Social care; 

 Clinical expertise; 

 Locality and community engagement and development; 

 Strategy and partnership development; 

 Programme planning and delivery; 

 Measurement, evaluation, and benefits realisation; 

 Working with people and communities and public/citizen voice and 

representation. 

 

4.4. Given the wide remit of the Health and Wellbeing Partnership, we recognise the need 

for breadth in the representation on the membership.  

 

4.5. When appointing members to the Committee, active consideration will be made to 

promoting diversity across the Partnership’s membership. 

 

4.6. Membership 

 

4.6.1. Committee members will include: 

 Chair (will be the same as the Chair for the Health and Wellbeing Board); 

to be appointed by the County Council 

Page 36



Appendix 1 

5 

 

 ICB CEO; to be appointed by the Integrated Care Board 

 All other members below will be appointed by the Integrated Care 

Partnership 

 One member drawn from the ICB Executive Team; 

 One member drawn from Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation 

Trust able to contribute to strategy development and delivery; 

 One member drawn from Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS 

Foundation Trust able to contribute to strategy development and delivery; 

 One member drawn from Healthwatch Gloucestershire; 

 Gloucestershire County Council Executive Director of Adult Social Care; 

 Gloucestershire County Council Director of Public Health; 

 Gloucestershire County Council Executive Director of Children's Services; 

 One member drawn from primary care, either a member or participant of 

the ICB; 

 Lead Governor for Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust; 

 Lead Governor for Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation 

Trust; 

 Six members drawn from the Integrated Locality Partnerships (ILPs) (one 

from each); 

 Six members drawn from the District Councils (one from each); 

 One member drawn from Clinical Programme Groups (CPGs); 

 One member drawn from Enabling Active Communities and Individuals 

(EAC–I) representatives; 

 One member drawn from the Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise 

(VCSE) Strategic Partnership; 

 One member drawn from the VCS Alliance 

 One member drawn from the Independent Social Care Sector. 

 Chair of the Integrated Care Board 

 

4.7. Chair and Vice Chair 

 

4.7.1. The Chair of the Committee will also be the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board 

and shall be appointed by the County Council. 

 

4.7.2. The Chair of the Committee shall appoint a Vice-Chair from within the membership of 

the Committee. 

 

4.7.3. The Chair will be responsible for agreeing the agenda and ensuring matters discussed 

meet the objectives as set out in these Terms of Reference in consultation with the 

designated Lead Executive Officer. 

 

4.8. Attendees and other Participants 

 

4.8.1. Only members of the Committee have the right to attend Partnership meetings. Other 

individuals may be invited to attend all or part of any meeting as and when appropriate 

to assist it with its discussions on any matter including representatives from programme 

groups and forums that make up the delivery infrastructure for the Health and 

Wellbeing and Integrated Care Strategies. 

Page 37



Appendix 1 

6 

 

4.9. Attendance 

 

4.9.1. Where a member is unable to attend a meeting, a suitable alternative may be agreed 

with the Chair in advance. 

 

4.9.2. The Chair of the ICB may also be invited to attend any meetings as required in order 

to gain an understanding of the Committee’s operations and to align the work of the 

Integrated Care Board and the Health and Wellbeing Partnership. 

 

4.10     Meetings in public 

 

4.10.1 Meetings will be held in public and meeting arrangements, papers and minutes will be 

available on the Health and Wellbeing Partnership website.  

 

4.11    Tenure 

 

4.11.1 Where individuals are part of the Committee’s membership as a result of their executive 

or non-executive role, they will stay on the Committee for the duration of their time in 

that post. 

 

4.11.2 Where members are drawn from a particular constituency within the health and care 

system, partner organisations or bodies will be invited to confirm every three years the 

nominated members who will form part of the Partnership’s membership. 

 

4.11.3 Where circumstances change, partner organisations or bodies can submit a request to 

the Chair to propose a change in individual members of the Partnership. 

 

5. Quoracy 
 

5.1. For a meeting to be quorate a minimum of 50% members is required, including either 

the Chair or Vice Chair. 

 

5.2. If any member of the Committee has been disqualified from participating in an item on 

the agenda, by reason of a declaration of conflicts of interest, then that individual shall 

no longer count towards the quorum. 

 

5.3. If the quorum has not been reached, then the meeting may proceed if those attending 

agree, but no decisions may be taken. 

 

 

6. Voting and decision making 
 

6.1. The Committee will ordinarily reach conclusions by consensus. When this is not 

possible, the Chair may call a vote. 

 

Page 38



Appendix 1 

7 

 

6.2. Only members of the Committee who are present may vote. Each member is allowed 

one vote and a majority will be conclusive on any matter. Where there is a split vote, 

with no clear majority, the Chair of the Committee will hold the casting vote. 

 

7. Frequency and notice of meetings 
 

7.1. The Partnership will meet at least six (6) times a year and the typical cycle will be 

meeting every other month. Additional meetings may take place as required at the 

request of the Chair 

 

7.2. The Chair or Lead Executive may ask the Partnership to convene further meetings to 

discuss particular issues on which they want the Committee’s advice. 

 

7.3. Meetings will be held in public; and where circumstances dictate, they may be 

conducted via electronic means. 

 

 

 

8. Secretariat 
 

8.1. The Committee shall be supported with a secretariat function shared with the Health 

and Wellbeing Board and the Integrated Care Board. 

 

8.2. The secretariat function shall ensure that: 

 

8.2.1. The agenda and papers are prepared and distributed at least five working days before 

the meeting, having been agreed by the Chair with the support of the relevant executive 

lead(s). 

 

8.2.2. Attendance by members of the Committee is monitored and reported annually as part 

of the respective annual reports of the ICB and the County Council; 

 

8.2.3. Records of members’ appointments and renewal dates is overseen and where required 

membership is renewed, or new members identified; 

 

8.2.4. Good quality minutes are taken and agreed with the Chair and approved by the 

Partnership, and that a record of matters arising, action points and issues to be carried 

forward are kept; 

 

8.2.5. The Chair is supported to prepare and deliver reports to the Board; 

 

8.2.6. The Committee is updated on pertinent issues/ areas of interest/ policy developments; 

 

8.2.7. Action points are taken forward between meetings and progress against those actions 

is monitored. 

 

8.2.8. A register of interests is maintained 

Page 39



Appendix 1 

8 

 

9. Remit and responsibilities of the Partnership 

 

9.1. To lead and co-ordinate the pursuit of better health and wellbeing for all across system 

partners. 

 

9.2. To agree and oversee the development of the Integrated Care Strategy for the whole 

Gloucestershire population, aligned to and integrated with the Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy. 

 

9.3. To ensure that the best available evidence and data is used to inform strategic 

decisions across the health and social care agendas, across the life course of people 

within the population 

 

9.4. To drive the direction of the ICS and oversee the delivery programmes and 

arrangements through which the aligned Integrated Care and Health and Wellbeing 

Strategies will be delivered. 

 

9.5. Where required, make recommendations to the ICB on the delivery of the Integrated 

Care Strategy and to collaborate with the ICB on facilitating joint action and integrated 

working across partners to improve health and care services. 

 

9.6. To receive assurance from programme boards and groups throughout the delivery 

infrastructure that measurable progress the implementation of specific elements of the 

strategy is being made. 

 

9.7. To co-ordinate measurement and evaluation of the achievement of key strategic 

milestones and objectives and progress in improving health outcomes for citizens and 

the population as a whole. 

 

9.8. To co-ordinate programmes of work across system partners that will reduce health 

inequalities and embed population health strategies and approaches. 

 

9.9. To consider the alignment of policy, plans and resource utilisation across the system 

to the strategic priorities expressed in the Integrated Care Strategy – including the use 

of pooled funds and the mobilisation of assets beyond statutory organisations. 

 

9.10. Together with the ICB, to foster an approach to collaboration and partnership working 

built on the shared vision and values for the One Gloucestershire ICS. 

 

9.11. To ensure that a proactive approach to embedding best practice in equality, diversity 

and inclusion is role modelled throughout the work of the Gloucestershire Health and 

Wellbeing Partnership. 

 

9.12. To convene and support the engagement and involvement of citizens and communities 

as part of delivering the Working with People and Communities (WWPAC) Strategy. 

 

 

Page 40



Appendix 1 

9 

 

10. Relationship between the Partnership and other system    

groups / committees / boards 
 

10.1 The relationship between the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Partnership and 

other key strategy and governance fora in the health and care system is illustrated in 

the Functions and Decisions Map: 

 

 

 

 

 

11. Monitoring and Reporting 
 

11.1 The minutes of the meetings shall be formally recorded by the secretariat and will be 

available on the Partnership’s website as well as the County Council’s website. 

 

11.2 The Chair may be invited to attend meetings of the ICB and Health and Wellbeing 

Board in order to align strategy, planning, delivery and decisions across the Integrated 

Care System. 

 

11.3 The Committee will provide an annual report to stakeholders to describe how it has 

fulfilled its Terms of Reference, to provide a summary of key achievements in delivering 

its responsibilities and to report progress in relation to the Integrated Care Strategy. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41



Appendix 1 

10 

 

12. Conduct of the Committee 
 

12.1 Members of the Committee will be expected to conduct business in line with the core 

purpose of the ICS and the shared vision and values of its partners. 

 

12.2 Members of, and those attending, the Committee shall behave in accordance with the 

respective policies on Standards of Business Conduct agreed by the ICB and the 

County Council and in line with the Council’s Code of Conduct for Councillors 

 

12.3 Members must demonstrably consider the equality and diversity implications of 

decisions   they make. 

 

12.4 In discharging duties transparently, conflicts of interest must be considered, recorded 

and managed. Members should have regard to both the ICB’s policies and national 

guidance on managing conflicts of interest. All potential conflicts of interest must be 

declared and recorded at the start of each meeting. A register of interests must be 

maintained by the Secretariat. If the Chair considers a conflict of interest exists then 

the relevant person must not take part in that item, and the Chair will require the 

affected member to withdraw at the relevant point. 

 

13. Review of Terms of Reference  

 
13.1 The Committee will review its effectiveness at least annually. These Terms of 

Reference will be reviewed at least annually and more frequently if required. Any 

proposed amendments to the Terms of Reference (including membership) will be 

submitted to the ICB Board and the County Council for approval. 

 

 

Page 42



Options for determining the order in which 
Council Motions are debated.  

1. Current process
 Motions are included on the agenda and debated in the order that 

notice is received
 No motion can be submitted for the following meeting until the debate 

has ended
 If a motion is not debated (because the time limit is reached), it does 

not carry forward to the following meeting, unless resubmitted

Features and consequences of this approach:

 All members have an equal opportunity to give notice of a motion
 Motions are more likely to be timely and relevant (because motions do 

not automatically roll-forward, there is less risk they become out of 
date)

 Allows members to act independently, and/or jointly.  Motions can be 
submitted without the support of their group or with cross-party 
backing. 

 Those motions lower down the list often do not get debated, and this 
can mean that the same motion fails to be debated on successive 
occasions.

 The ‘race to submit’ can mean that it is arbitrary which motions get 
debated and which don’t.  

 If a single group submits more than one motion, they can ‘hog’ the 
agenda.

2. Motions are carried forward from the previous meeting
 As above, except that if a motion is not debated, it carries forward to 

the following meeting – ie. motions are debated in the order in which 
notice is received, regardless of how long ago that was.

Features and consequences of this approach:

 All members have an equal opportunity to give notice of a motion
 Allows members to act independently, and/or jointly.  Motions can be 

submitted without the support of their group or with cross-party 
backing. 

 All motions get debated eventually, though some may be delayed
 Open to abuse – by submitting a number of motions, one political 

group could ‘block book’ the agenda for several meetings at a time.
 Motions are less likely to be debated in a timely way, meaning they 

may end up being less topical or irrelevant.

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



3. Drawing lots
 The order of motions is determined at random, by drawing lots from 

those motions submitted.

Features and consequences of this approach:

 All members have an equal opportunity to give notice of a motion
 Over time, no single political group would dominate 
 Allows members to act independently, and/or jointly.  Motions can be 

submitted without the support of their group or with cross-party 
backing. 

 Even if resubmitted for successive meetings, there is no guarantee that 
a motion will be debated 

 Those groups submitting a higher number of motions will have a 
greater chance of a motion being heard.  This could lead to gaming of 
the system. However, groups would have no control over the relative 
importance of their motions, which may act as a counter-incentive.

4. One per group
 As with option 1, the order is determined by the order in which notice is 

given, but limited to one motion per group.  If a group submits more 
than one motion, subsequent motions will only be debated after each 
group has had the opportunity to debate its first motion.

Features and consequences of this approach:

 All members have an equal opportunity to give notice of a motion
 Prevents one group from dominating in any particular meeting
 Still does not guarantee that those motions further down the order 

would be reached, and could still lead to one group having more 
motions debated overall.

 Creates an incentive to submit early, so may mean that very topical 
motions never get debated.

 Makes no provision for members who may wish to act independently of 
their group.

 Those members within larger groups may find it more difficult to get 
motions debated (because they will be competing with the rest of their 
group for their ‘turn’)

5. On rotation by group
 Groups take it in turns for their motions to be debated.  

Features and consequences of this approach:

Page 44



 Guarantees an equal opportunity for each group to have their motions 
debated

 Removes the incentive for motions to be submitted early, so would be 
likely to lead to motions having more relevance

 Experience tells us that we never reach the 4th motion (and frequently 
the 3rd), meaning that on one occasion in four each group will have no 
realistic proposition of putting forward a motion.

 Makes no provision for members who may wish to act independently of 
their group.

 Those members within larger groups may find it more difficult to get 
motions debated (because they will be competing with the rest of their 
group for their ‘turn’)

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Executive Decision Making by an Officer with Delegated Powers 
 

 
Decision to be taken by: Rob Ayliffe, Monitoring Officer 
 
Pursuant to delegation reference MO2 within the Council’s Scheme of Delegation 
 
Report title: Update to the Gloucestershire County Council Constitution  

 
 

The decision To update the constitution with the changes set out in the appendix 
to this report with effect from 11 July 2022 in order to reflect 
changes to the Council’s Senior Management Structure.  

Background  
documents 

Appointments Committee – Tuesday 10 May 2022 

Appointments Sub-Committee – Wednesday 25 May 2022 

Reasons for  
the decision 

These changes are necessary to reflect the revised Senior 
Management Structure as agreed by the Appointments Committee 
on 10 May 2022.  

 

Resource 
implications 

None 

Who has been  
consulted? 

 

 
Not Applicable 

 

What were their comments? 

Not applicable 

Background/Context 

On 10 May 2020, the Appointments Committee agreed to implement a new senior 
management structure that separated the roles of Director of Public Health from the role of 
Executive Director of Adult Social Care. 

This new structure will take effect on 11 July 2022, and therefore needs to be reflected from 
that point in time in the relevant sections of the Council’s constitution including, in particular, 
the Scheme of Delegation.  

The constitution affords me the authority (under delegation MO2) to amend the Constitution in 
any way whosoever in order to secure compliance with the law and the convenient, efficient 
and effective discharge of any Council function.   

Page 47

Agenda Item 8

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=262&MId=10999
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=723&MId=11061


This decision will be reported to the Constitution Committee on 10 October 2022, and 
reported to County Council for ratification on 9 November 2022. 

 

Alternative options considered and why they were rejected 

Not applicable 

Risk Analysis 

Failure to update the constitution to reflect these structural changes could lead to ambiguity 
as to the authority of the relevant officers to take decisions within their areas of accountability 
and could potentially lead to any such decision(s) being challenged. 

 

Equalities considerations 

Not applicable 

 

Has a Due Regard Statement been completed? No 

 

 

 Has any conflict of interest been declared 
by any Cabinet Member consulted on the 
decision? 

 

If any conflict of interest declared, was a 
dispensation granted by the Audit and 
Governance Committee of the Council? 

No 

 

 

Date of dispensation: N/A 

Does this decision report form or any 
supporting papers provided contain 
confidential or exempt information?   

No 

Does this decision need to be published on 
the GCC website? 

Yes 

Page 48



 
In coming to this decision I have given due and full regard to the requirements of the Public 
Sector Equality Duty contained in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (“the Act”) by 
reference to the law itself and also the relevant Due Regard Statement, which was/were 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Act.  
 
Having fully considered all available information, I have decided to reject any alternative 
options and take the recommended decision(s), for the reasons set out in this report.  

 

 

 

 

Signed: 

 

Rob Ayliffe, Monitoring Officer 

 

 

Date: 6th June 2022 

 

Contact details for further information: 

Officer: Rob Ayliffe 

Tel: 01452 328506 

Email: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

 

 

  

Page 49

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Appendix – Monitoring Officer Changes to the Constitution 

 

PART 2 - ARTICLES OF THE CONSTITUTION 

Article 13 - Officers 

 

13.01 Management structure 

 

13.01.1 General 

 

 The Council will engage Officers to enable it to carry out its functions. 

 

13.01.2 Statutory Officer Posts 

  

Position Legislation Name 

Head of Paid Service Local Government and Housing Act 

1989 – Section 4 

Peter Bungard 

Chief Finance Officer Local Government Act 1972 – 

Section 151 

Steve Mawson 

Monitoring Officer Local Government and Housing Act 

1989 – Section 5 

Robert Ayliffe 

Director of Adult Social Care Local Authorities Social Services 

Act 1970 – Section 6 

Sarah Scott 

Director of Children’s 

Services 

Children’s Act 2004 – Section 18 Chris Spencer 

Director of Public Health National Health Service Act 2006 – 

Section 73A 

Sarah ScottSiobhan 

Farmer 

Statutory Scrutiny Officer Local Government Act 2000 – 

Section 9FB 

Simon Harper 

Data Protection Officer General Data Protection 

Regulations Articles 37 to 39. Data 

Protection Act 2018 Part 3, Chapter 

4, sections 69-71 

Jenny Grodzicka 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 50



 

 

PART 3 – RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 

 

3.2 APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE 

 

The purpose of the Appointments Committee is to enable Members to play a full role in deciding 

which persons should be employed, or not, as the Council’s most senior Officers and to 

determine terms of employment. 

 

Table 3.02:  The duties of the Appointments Committee 

 

To be responsible for: 

 

1. Recommending to the full Council the appointment (on a permanent or temporary or acting up 

basis) of the Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service. 

2.       Determining any disciplinary matters short of dismissal in relation to the Head of Paid Service, 

Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer. 

3.       Making recommendations to full Council regarding dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, 

Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer. 

4. The appointment (on a permanent or temporary or acting up basis) of the Chief Finance Officer, 

Monitoring Officer, the Chief Fire Officer, the Director of Public Health and all Executive 

Directors, including the statutory posts of Director of Children’s Services and, Director of Adult 

Social Care, Wellbeing and Communities and Director of Public Health. 

5.       The dismissal of the Chief Fire Officer, the Director of Public Health, the Executive Director of 

Children’s Services, the Executive Director of Adult Social Care, Wellbeing and Communities 

and Public Health and the Executive Director of Economy, Environment and Infrastructure. 

6. Determining the terms of employment and any variation to those terms of employees of the 

Council including terms of employment and exercising employer discretions in relation to 

pensions. 

7. Subject to any other provisions of the Council's Constitution, determining any other matters 

affecting employees of the Council. 

 

 

Appointments Committee Membership: 

6 County Councillors  

 

1. At least one of whom must be a Member of the Cabinet;  

2. At least one of whom should be a Cabinet Member whose portfolio of duties includes 

responsibility for the service in which an appointed Officer would be employed.  This 

Page 51



requirement should be met by a County Councillor appointed to membership of the 

Appointments Committee being substituted by the appropriate Cabinet Member of the 

same political party in order to meet political balance requirements.  This requirement 

will not apply in connection with the appointment (on a permanent or temporary or 

acting up basis) of the Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service (including their terms and 

conditions of employment and any variation to those terms and conditions).  Failure to 

comply with this requirement will not invalidate any proceedings of the Appointments 

Committee. 

3. For decisions relating to the conduct and capability of those officers listed under items 

2 and 3 in Table 3.02 above the Appointments Committee will operate through a 

politically-balanced sub-committee acting as an Investigating and Disciplinary panel 

comprising up to 5. 

4. For decisions on the appointment of those officers detailed at item 4 in Table 3.02 

above the Appointments Committee will operate through a sub-committee acting as an 

interviewing panel comprising up to 5 (politically balanced). 

5. Council has resolved that for joint appointments with the NHS in Gloucestershire, which 

are within the remit of the Appointments Committee, a sub-committee should be 

established comprising up to 5 members to be drawn from the Appointments 

Committee’s membership and shall be politically balanced. 

 

Note 1: Reference should be made to the consultation required under paragraph 2 of the 

Officer Employment Rules to be found in Part 4 of the Constitution. 

Note 2: There is granted to the Chief Executive express delegated authority (in consultation 

with Cabinet Members, Group Leaders and relevant Scrutiny Chair) to appoint on an 

interim basis to the position of Director within the employment of the Council for a 

maximum period of up to six months. 

 

  

Page 52



3.12 HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

In accordance with the requirements of the Health & Social Care Act 2012 (“the Act”) the 

Council has established the Health and Wellbeing Board as a committee of the Council. Its 

duties/terms of reference are: 

 

1. For the purpose of advancing the health and wellbeing of the people of 

Gloucestershire to encourage persons who arrange for the provision or delivery of 

any health or social care services in the county to work in an integrated manner 

2. To encourage persons who arrange for the provision of any health or social care 

services in the county and persons who arrange for the provision or delivery of any 

health-related services in the county to work closely together. 

3. Pursuant to section 116 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health 

Act 2007 to prepare and publish a joint strategic needs assessment for the county 

4. To prepare and publish a strategy for meeting the needs identified in the joint 

strategic needs assessment and ensuring a strategic planning framework is in place 

5.  To provide such advice assistance or other support as it thinks appropriate for the 

purpose of encouraging the making of arrangements under section 75 of the National 

Health Service Act 2006 in connection with the provision of such services 

6. To encourage persons who arrange for the provision or delivery of any health-related 

services in the county to work closely with the Board 

 

Membership of the Health and Wellbeing Board comprises: 

 

• Chair of Clinical Commissioning Gloucestershire 

• Additional Clinical Commissioning Gloucestershire member 

• Accountable Officer of Clinical Commissioning Gloucestershire  

• A District Council elected representative from Leadership Gloucestershire 

• Four County Councillors, as appointed by the Leader of the County Council 

• The Executive Director of Adult Social Care, Wellbeing and Communities and Public 

Health , Gloucestershire County Council 

• The Executive Director of Children’s Services, Gloucestershire County Council 

• The Director of Public Health, Gloucestershire County Council 

• Police and Crime Commissioner 

• A representative of the local Healthwatch  

• A representative of the NHS Commissioning Board Local Area Team 

• A District Council Chief Officer and link for housing related business 

• Chair of Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust 

• Chair of 2gether NHS Foundation Trust 

• Chair of Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

• Chief Constable of Gloucestershire 

• Chief Fire Officer for Gloucestershire 

 

Page 53



Note 1: Political proportionality will not be applied 

 

Note 2:  Voting – Individual members of the Board shall be non-voting. Instead each member 

organisation or group of organisations will have one vote. The nominee of each organisation 

must be present to vote. There will be no absence voting provision. The Chair will have the 

casting vote. 

 

Voting organisations are: 

 

• Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group, Gloucestershire Care Services NHS   

Trust, Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundations Trust and 2gether NHS Foundation 

Trust 

• Gloucestershire County Council 

• HealthWatch 

• District Councils (one vote for all six) 

• NHS England 

• PCC and Gloucestershire Constabulary 

 

Note 3:  For the purpose of enabling it to carry out its functions the Health and Wellbeing Board 

may request the Council, the Local Healthwatch, the Clinical Commissioning Group or other 

member of the Board to supply it with information specified in the request. 

 

Note 4: Terms of Office – Each term of office will run for the term of the County Council unless a 

member organisation advises otherwise.  

 

Note 5: Substitutions: There will be no substitutions, if an organisation is unable to send its 

representative a named substitute may be nominated for that meeting only.   Notice of this shall 

be given by the absent Board member to the committee administrator in advance of the 

meeting.  Ideally a week’s notice shall be given to allow all Board members to be advised of the 

substitution. Procedural Standing Order 28 shall not apply. 

 

Note 6: Quorum: The quorum for meetings of the Health and Wellbeing Board is that one 

quarter of the membership be present and at least 4 be voting member organisations. 

Page 54



 

SECTION 5 - SCHEME OF DELEGATION 

 

5.1 The Council is required to make very many executive and non-executive decisions 

every day.  It would be quite impracticable to make all or many of these decisions 

through full Council, the Cabinet and other Council bodies. The full Council, Cabinet 

and, the Leader are able to delegate powers to the Cabinet, individual Cabinet 

Members and to Officers.  Such powers are called “delegated powers” and the 

distribution of responsibility amongst the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members and 

Officers for making decisions under delegated powers is set out in this Scheme.  Such 

powers must be exercised in accordance with the conditions specified in paragraphs 

5.2 to 5.8 below. 

 

This scheme does not delegate to the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members and 

Officers: 

 

5.1.1 Except under delegation CE1 any matter reserved to full Council (see 

Tables 1 and 2 of this Part of the Constitution);  

 

5.1.2 Any matter that by law may not be delegated to the Leader of the Council, 

a Cabinet Member or Officer. 

 

5.2 Delegated powers must be exercised in accordance with: 

 

5.2.1 The law; 

 

5.2.2 All of the rules, procedures, codes and protocols contained in the 

Council’s Constitution;  

 

5.2.3 Council policy. 

 

5.3 Before exercising delegated powers, the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members and 

Officers must satisfy themselves that the decision is: 

 

5.3.1 Authorised by law and, if in doubt, will consult with the Assistant Director 

of Legal Services;  

 

5.3.2 Within budget (allowing for such variance as may be permitted under the 

Council’s Financial Regulations) and if in doubt will consult with the 

Executive Director of Corporate Resources. 

 

5.4 Before exercising delegated powers the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members and 

Officers must consider whether it would be advantageous and/or prudent to consult 

with the Leader of the Council, another Cabinet Member or any other Member of the 

Council and/or Officer, and whenever they consult with another will carefully consider 

Page 55



 

any response that they receive.   In any event, consultation will always be required with 

all persons referred to in the column “Consultation under paragraph 5.4” in the table 

below headed Particular Delegations to Officers and in accordance with paragraph 5.9. 

 

5.5 Before exercising delegated powers, Officers will consider whether the use of a power 

might be regarded as sensitive or contentious by Members of the Council and if it 

appears that this will be the case, they will: 

 

5.5.1 In respect of any executive function, consult with the Leader of the 

Council or Cabinet Member with responsibility for that area;  

 

5.5.2 In respect of any non-executive function, consult with the Chair and other 

political groups’ Lead Members of the committee having responsibility for 

that matter and any Member of the Council whose electoral division will be 

affected by the exercise of delegated powers. 

 

5.6 In the absence of a Cabinet Member or if a Cabinet Member is unable to or should not 

exercise a delegated power, the Leader of the Council may exercise that delegated 

power. 

 

In the absence of the Leader of the Council or if the Leader of the Council is unable to 

or should not exercise a delegated power or other power under the Constitution, any 

Cabinet Member or the Cabinet may exercise those powers. 

 

5.7 The Officers named in this scheme shall be deemed to include any other Officer of the 

Council that they authorise in writing to exercise delegated powers on their behalf 

provided: 

 

5.7.1 An Officer named in this scheme must maintain a written record of any 

other Officer they have authorised to exercise delegated powers on their 

behalf and any limitation that they have imposed on the extent and 

duration or other exercise of those powers in addition to those specified in 

this scheme;  

 

5.7.2 A copy of the information specified in paragraph 5.7.1 must be given to 

the Monitoring Officer before another Officer exercises a power on behalf 

of a named Officer and the Monitoring Officer shall place this information 

on a register that, in accordance with Section 100G of the Local 

Government Act 1972, will be maintained for inspection by the public. 

 

5.8 The Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members and Officers must maintain a complete and 

permanent written record of all executive decisions, which must (as a minimum) include: 

 

5.8.1 A dated record of that decision; 

Page 56



 

 

5.8.2 A record of the reasons for the decision; 

 

5.8.3 Details of any alternative options considered and rejected at the time by the 

person when making the decision; 

 

5.8.4 A record of any consultation with Members and/or Officers 

 

5.8.5 A record of any conflict of interest declared by any Executive Member who is 

consulted in relation to the decision; and 

 

5.8.6 In respect of any declared conflict of interest a note of any dispensation granted 

by the Audit and Governance Committee of the Council. 

 

Note: Records of all executive decisions are required to be available for public inspection after 

the decision has been taken, in the same way as Cabinet papers. 

 

5.9 There shall be delegated to the Leader of the Council and each Cabinet Member all 

executive functions, duties or powers of the Council within their area of responsibility as 

specified in paragraph 4.4 of Section 4 of the Constitution.  In exercising such 

functions, duties or powers, the Leader and Cabinet Members will consult with the 

Director or Head of any service area affected by their decision. 

 

5.10 The functions, powers and duties identified in the table below headed “Particular 

Delegations to Officers” are delegated to Officers of the Council.  Any Officer referred 

to in the “Appropriate Officer” column of the table below and to whom powers have 

been delegated, shall include any other person subsequently taking on that Officer’s 

responsibilities. 

 

5.11 The Executive Director: Children and Families has responsibility for the statutory 

functions of the Director of Children's Services in accordance with Section 18 of the 

Children Act 2004.  

 

5.12 The Officer designated as Director of Adult Social Services in accordance with Section 

6(A1) of the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970 (as inserted by paragraph 2(2) of 

Schedule 2 to the Children Act 2004) shall be the Executive Director of Adult Social 

Care, Wellbeing and Communities. and Public Health 

 

 

  

Page 57



 

Particular Delegations to Officers 

 

Decision 

Category 

Number 

Function, duty or 

power to be delegated 

Appropriate Officer Consultation 

under 

paragraph 

5.4 

CE1 To take any decision that 

could be taken by the 

Council, the Cabinet, any 

committee or any Officer 

(provided such action is 

taken in accordance with 

the law, Rules on Access 

to Information about the 

County Council’s Business 

and the Cabinet Procedure 

Rules). 

Chief Executive. 

 

Council 

function - 

Chair and 

Leader of the 

Council. 

 

Cabinet 

function - 

Leader of the 

Council or 

Cabinet 

Member, as 

appropriate. 

 

Committee 

function - 

Chair and 

Lead 

Members 

CE2 To be the Proper Officer of 

the County Council in 

relation to Section 270(3) 

of the Local Government 

Act 1972. 

Chief Executive N/A 

CE3 To fill casual vacancies on 

committees, in accordance 

with Sections 15-17 of the 

Local Government & 

Housing Act 1989. 

Chief Executive Group leader 

of the political 

group entitled 

to appoint a 

Member to 

any committee 

by virtue of 

any vacancy 

that has arisen 

CE4 To be the Returning Officer 

for County Council 

elections and undertake 

Chief Executive N/A 

Page 58



 

the functions of the Council 

in relation to elections. 

CE5 To permanently appoint, 

determine the terms of 

appointment and terminate 

the appointment of all staff 

(except those Officers 

within the responsibility of 

the Appointments 

Committee) under Section 

112 of the Local 

Government Act 1972. 

Chief Executive Executive 

Director of 

Corporate 

Resources 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 To appoint on a temporary 

or acting up basis for up to 

one year, determine the 

terms of appointment and 

terminate the appointment 

of those Officers within 

paragraph 2 of the duties 

of the Appointments 

Committee. 

 All Cabinet 

Members 

Group 

Leaders and 

relevant 

Scrutiny Chair. 

 To appoint on an interim 

basis and for a maximum 

period of up to six months 

to the positions of those 

officers within paragraph 2 

of the duties of the 

Appointments Committee. 

 All Cabinet 

Members 

Group 

Leaders and 

relevant 

Scrutiny Chair. 

 DCR 1 To be responsible for and 

do anything required for 

the proper administration 

of the financial affairs of 

the Council. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR 2 To make arrangements for 

the financing of the capital 

programme of the Council 

by borrowing, leasing or 

other arrangements. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

Leader of the 

Council or 

Cabinet 

Member, as 

appropriate. 

 DCR 3 The functions, duties or 

powers of the Pensions 

Committee. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

Chair of the 

Pensions 

Committee for 

all decisions 

with financial 

Page 59



 

implications 

over £250,000 

 DCR 4 To formulate and issue 

general guidelines to 

Officers on financial 

matters including 

insurance and the writing-

off of debts. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR 5 To determine 

arrangements for treasury 

management in 

accordance with the 

Council’s policy statement 

and approved treasury 

management practices and 

where relevant CIPFA’s 

Standard of Professional 

Practice on Treasury 

Management. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR 6 To make arrangements for 

the Internal Audit of the 

Council. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR 7 To manage the County 

Fund and all subsidiary 

accounts and any reserve 

or other fund. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

DCR 8 To operate the Local 

Government 

Superannuation 

Regulations, including the 

exercise of discretion 

under those Regulations. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member for all 

decisions with 

financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

DCR 9 To implement national and 

local pay awards and 

increase payments under 

the Pension Increase Act. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR 10 To make finance leasing 

arrangements and 

authorise and make any 

other financial transaction 

including the borrowing 

and lending of money. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member for all 

decisions with 

financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

Page 60



 

 DCR 11 To authorise the writing-off 

of stock, other than 

through fair wear and tear. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR 12 To effect adequate 

insurance cover for the 

Council. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR 13 To exercise all other 

functions relating to the 

Financial Management of 

the Council. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR14 To acquire and dispose of 

any interest in land and 

manage the Council’s 

estate. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member for all 

decisions with 

financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

 DCR 15 

 

To manage the provision of 

information technology 

services to the Council. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR 16 To manage the function 

relating to Communications 

and Engagement 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR 17 To exercise all other 

functions relating to 

support services except for 

functions falling within 

decision categories  ALDS 

1 to 3 and MO1 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

 DCR 18 To secure the proper 

management of the 

Council’s human resources 

except for functions falling 

within decision categories 

CE5 and ALDS 1 to 3 

 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

DCR 19 To exercise all other 
functions relating to the 
following services: 
Planning, Performance & 
Change; Democratic 
Services; Information 
Management; Corporate 
Complaints; Archives; the 
Executive and Cabinet 

Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources  
 

N/A 

Page 61



 

Offices; the SHE team; and 
Legal Services, except for 
functions within decision 
categories ADLS1 to 5  

DPPG1 The functions of the Safety 

& Licensing Committee 

under paragraphs 2 and 3 

of its terms of reference. 

Director of Policy, 

Performance & Governance 

 

N/A 

 DPPG2 To publish standards for 

the whole Council, which 

will secure the efficient 

processing of information. 

Director of Policy, 

Performance & Governance 

 

N/A 

MO1 To make payments or 

award other benefits under 

Section 92 of the Local 

Government Act 2000 

(payments in respect of 

maladministration and 

related discretionary 

payments. 

Monitoring Officer Chief 

Executive, 

Chief Financial 

Officer and/or 

Director 

responsible for 

the service in 

respect of 

which a 

payment or 

other benefit is 

awarded. 

MO2 To amend the Constitution 

in any way whatsoever in 

order to secure compliance 

with the law and the 

convenient, efficient and 

effective discharge of any 

Council function.  Such 

amendment to be reported 

to the Constitution 

Committee and reported to 

and ratified by the full 

Council (in respect of any 

non-executive function) or 

the Cabinet (in respect of 

any executive function). 

Monitoring Officer Chief 

Executive and 

any Director 

whose service 

is affected by 

any 

amendment to 

the 

Constitution. 

MO 3 The functions of the 

Constitution Committee to 

advertise for, interview and 

appoint persons as 

members of an 

Monitoring Officer Lead 

Members of 

the 

Constitution 

Committee. 

Page 62



 

Independent Remuneration 

Panel. 

CFO1 To manage the operations 

of the Gloucestershire Fire 

and Rescue Service. 

Chief Fire Officer Most relevant 

Cabinet 

Member(s) or 

Chief 

Executive for 

all decisions 

with financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

CFO2 To exercise all other 

functions relating to the 

areas of responsibility of 

the following services: 

Trading Standards, 

Coroners and Civil 

Protection 

Chief Fire Officer Most relevant 

Cabinet 

Member(s) or 

Chief 

Executive for 

all decisions 

with financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

DCFO1 Without prejudice to the 

powers of the Director of 

Economy, Environment 

and Infrastructure to sign 

warrants and authorise 

Officers to enforce the 

legislation referred to in the 

Trading Standards 

Legislation Master List held 

by the Assistant Director of 

Legal Services and to 

issue statutory notices in 

relation to that legislation. 

Deputy Chief Fire Officer N/A 

DEEI1 The functions of the Safety 

and Licensing Committee, 

except those within 

paragraphs 2, 3, 4 and 7 of 

its terms of reference and 

decision categories 

ADLS1to 3. 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure 

N/A 

DEEI2 

 

 

To enforce the Trading 

Standards, Food, Animal 

Health and other legislation 

referred to in the Trading 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure 

N/A 

Page 63



 

Standards Legislation 

Master List held by the 

Assistant Director of Legal 

Services  and issue 

statutory notices in relation 

to that legislation 

DEEI3 

 

 

 

To exercise the functions 

of the Commons and 

Rights of Way Committee 

as Local Highway Authority   

Commons and Rights of 

Way Committee terms of 

reference 3 to 19. 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure 

N/A 

DEEI4 

 

 

To be the Proper Officer in 

relation to functions under 

the Highways Act 1980. 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure 

N/A 

DEEI5 

 

 

 

 

To exercise the functions 

falling within Planning 

Committee terms of 

reference 1 to 14 and 16 to 

25, except decision 

categories ADLS1 to 3 of 

this Scheme of Delegation. 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure. 

(Note:  Where the  

Executive Director is an 

Officer whose 

responsibilities include any 

aspect of the management 

of any land or building to 

which an application made 

by the Council relates, or is 

responsible for a function 

(other than as planning 

authority) materially 

affected by any planning 

matter, this power is 

delegated to the 

appropriate senior officer). 

Assistant 

Director of 

Legal 

Services.  

DEEI6 

 

 

 

 

To exercise the functions 

of the Traffic Regulation 

Committee (terms of 

reference 1 to 12), except 

those falling within decision 

categories  ADLS1 to 3 of 

this Scheme of Delegation. 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure 

Assistant 

Director of 

Legal 

Services.  

DEEI7 

 

 

To exercise all other 

functions relating to the 

areas of responsibility of 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member for all 

Page 64



 

 the following services: 

Development, Planning, 

Transport & Community 

Infrastructure, Road 

Safety, , Registration, 

Libraries and Waste 

Management except 

decision categories ADLS 

1 to 3 (although, in cases 

when only an Officer other 

than the Assistant Director 

of Legal Services may 

institute proceedings, the 

Director of Economy, 

Environment and 

Infrastructure may institute 

a prosecution once it has 

been authorised under 

ADLS2). 

decisions with 

financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

DASS1 The functions of the Safety 

and Licensing Committee 

under paragraph 7 of its 

terms of reference. 

 

Executive Director of Adult 

Social Care, Wellbeing and 

Communities and Public 

Health 

 

N/A 

DASS2 To exercise all other 

functions relating to the 

areas of responsibility of 

Adult Social Services 

except decision category 

ADLS 1to 3. 

 Executive Director of Adult 

Social Care, Wellbeing and 

Communities and Public 

Health 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member for all 

decisions with 

financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

DCS1 The functions of the Safety 

and Licensing Committee 

under paragraph 4 of its 

terms of reference. 

Executive Director of 

Children’s Services 

 

 

N/A 

DCS2 To exercise all other 

functions relating to the 

areas of responsibility of 

Children’s Services, 

Education and Learning 

except decision category 

ADLS 1 to 3 and in relation 

to the commissioning of 

Children’s Services. 

Executive Director of 

Children’s Services 

Most relevant 

Cabinet 

Member(s) for 

all decisions 

with financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

 

Page 65



 

ADLS1 To authorise the institution, 

defence withdrawal or 

settlement of any claims or 

legal proceedings, civil or 

criminal, the issue of 

cautions and to authorise 

the enforcement of any 

order made in those 

proceedings. 

Assistant Director of Legal 

Services  

Director of any 

service area 

affected by 

such a 

decision. 

ADLS2 To authorise Officers of the 

County Council to 

prosecute or defend or 

appear in any legal 

proceedings (NB: The 

Assistant Director of Legal 

Services will authorise 

every decision to 

prosecute or defend such 

proceedings, including 

those which by law may 

only be instituted by 

another Officer). 

 

Assistant Director of Legal 

Services 

Director of any 

service area 

affected by 

such a 

decision. 

ADLS3 To authorise the 

withdrawal or settlement of 

any dispute between the 

Council and any third 

party, including those that 

have been referred to any 

statutory or non-statutory 

Tribunal or arbitrator (this 

includes authorising ex 

gratia payments not 

otherwise delegated). 

Assistant Director of Legal 

Services 

Director of any 

 service area 

affected by 

such a 

decision. 

ADLS4 To be the adjudicator for 

disputes under the Local 

Government Pension 

Scheme. 

Assistant Director of Legal 

Services 

N/A 

ADLS5 The functions of the 

Commons and Rights of 

Way Committee under 

paragraphs 1, 2 and 19 or 

its terms of reference. 

Assistant Director of Legal 

Services 

Lead 

members 

Page 66



 

DPH1 

 
 
 

To exercise the functions 

conferred on the Director 

of Public Health by section 

73A of the National Health 

Service Act 2006 for the 

improvement of the health 

of the people of 

Gloucestershire 

Executive Director of Adult 

Social Care and Public 

HealthDirector of Public 

Health 

 

GEN1 To enter into any contract 

for works and the supply of 

goods and services. 

Chief Executive, Executive 

Director, Director, Assistant 

Director or Heads of 

Service or equivalent in 

relation to their service 

areas. 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member for 

decisions with 

financial 

implications in 

excess of 

£250,000 

GEN2 To take any decision under 

the Regulation of 

Investigatory Powers Act 

2000. 

 

Executive Director, 

Director, Assistant Director 

or Head of Service or 

equivalent in relation to 

their service areas. 

N/A 

GEN3 To do anything that is 

required for the effective 

management of staff and 

other resources within 

each Service of the 

Council. 

Executive Director, 

Director, Assistant Director 

or Head of Service or 

equivalent in relation to 

their service areas. 

N/A 

GEN4 To be the Proper Officer in 

relation to each Service of 

the Council 

Executive Director, 

Director, Assistant Director 

or Head of Service or 

equivalent in relation to 

their service areas. 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member for 

decision with 

financial 

implications in 

excess of 

£250,000 

 

 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Members Code of Conduct
	6 Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Partnership
	Appendix 1 - Health and Wellbeing Partnership Draft Terms of Reference

	7 Order of Council Motions
	8 Monitoring Officer changes

